

GOVERNANCE

DOCUMENTS

	Page
Consolidated version of the Agreement for the Establishment of the International Development Law Organization	4
Rules of Procedure of the Assembly of Parties of the International Development Law Organization	17
Rules of Procedure of the Standing Committee of the International Development Law Organization	30
Rules of Procedure of the Board of Advisers of the International Development Law Organization	38

**Consolidated version of the
Agreement for the Establishment
of
the International Development Law Organization**

**of February 5, 1988 as amended on June 30, 2002,
November 30, 2002 and March 28, 2008**

Consolidated version*

* Disclaimer: Consolidation entails the integration of the basic convention, its amendments and corrections in a single, non-official document. This document is intended for use as a documentation tool only. The text of the original convention is available upon request to the International Development Law Organization (IDLO). IDLO assumes no liability for the content of this working document.

**Agreement for the Establishment
of
the International Development Law Organization**

**of February 5, 1988 as amended on June 30, 2002 ,
November 30, 2002 and March 28, 2008**

(Body of the Agreement without Preamble)

Article I

ESTABLISHMENT AND STATUS

1. There is hereby established the International Development Law Organization, hereinafter referred to as the "Organization" or "IDLO", as an international organization.
2. The Organization shall possess full juridical personality and enjoy such capacities as may be necessary for the exercise of its functions and the fulfillment of its purposes.
3. The Organization shall operate in accordance with this Agreement.

Article II

PURPOSES AND ACTIVITIES

1. The purposes of the Organization are:
 - A. To encourage and facilitate the improvement and use of legal resources in the development process;
 - B. To contribute to the establishment and progressive development and application of good governance and the rule of law in developing countries and countries in economic transition;

- C. To assist developing countries and countries in economic transition to improve their negotiating capabilities in the fields of development cooperation, foreign investment, international trade and other international business transactions; and
 - D. To promote sustainable development through improvement and maintenance of the legal and judicial systems of the developing countries and countries in economic transition.
2. In order to accomplish the foregoing purposes, the Organization may engage in the following types of activities:
- A. Training, education, technical assistance, consultancy, research, publication, collection and dissemination of relevant information and documentation;
 - B. Cooperation with other institutions and organizations and bodies, in particular organizations in the United Nations system in pursuit of its purposes;
 - C. Contributing to the establishment and growth of capacity in developing countries and countries in economic transition to carry out activities promoting the purposes of the Organization;
 - D. Other activities which advance the purposes of the Organization.
3. The Organization shall not be influenced by political considerations in its activities, management and staffing.

Article III
POWERS

In furtherance of the foregoing purposes and activities, the Organization shall have the following powers:

1. To acquire and dispose of real and personal property;
2. To enter into contracts and other types of agreements;
3. To employ persons;
4. To institute and defend in legal proceedings;
5. To invest the moneys and properties of the Organization; and
6. To take other lawful action necessary to accomplish the purposes of the Organization.

Article IV
HEADQUARTERS

1. The headquarters of the Organization shall be in Rome, Italy, unless the Assembly decides to relocate the Organization elsewhere.
2. The Organization may establish offices in other locations as required to support its programs.

Article V
FINANCE

1. The Organization shall obtain its financial resources through such means as voluntary contributions and donations; course and seminar tuitions;

training workshop and technical assistance fees; publication and other service revenue; and interest income from trusts, endowments and bank accounts.

2. The Parties to this Agreement shall not be required to provide financial support to the Organization beyond voluntary contributions. Nor shall they be responsible, individually or collectively, for any debts, liabilities or obligations of the Organization.
3. The Organization shall establish arrangements satisfactory to the Government of the country in which its headquarters are located with a view to ensuring the Organization's ability to meet its obligations.

Article VI ORGANIZATION

The Organization shall be composed of the Assembly of the Parties to this Agreement (herein after referred to as "the Assembly"), of the Board of Advisers, of the Standing Committee and of the Director-General.

1. The Assembly shall represent the Parties. It shall determine the Organization's policies and oversee the action of the Director-General.
 - A) The Government of each State or the executive of each intergovernmental organization party to this Agreement shall appoint a representative to act as a member of the Assembly.
 - B) Meetings of the Assembly shall be called by its President. The Assembly shall meet in the last quarter of each year. An extraordinary meeting must be called at the request of the Board of Advisers, the Standing Committee or one third of the Parties' representatives.

The President shall determine the agenda for meetings of the Assembly after consulting the Standing Committee. An item must be included in the agenda if the Board of Advisers, the Standing Committee or a representative of the Parties so requests.

- C) The Assembly shall :
- a) adopt the budget for the following year and the accompanying action plan;
 - b) consider the report on activity for the elapsed year and approve the accounts for the last accounting period;
 - c) adopt by-laws for the governance of the Organization and, inter alia, for the personnel policies;
 - d) adopt recommendations relating to the Organization's policies and management;
 - e) designate the auditors;
 - f) commission an independent company to conduct an audit of the Organization's operations, if the Assembly so chooses;
 - g) adopt the Assembly's rules of procedure; and
 - h) approve the admission of new members of the Organization.
- D) The Assembly, under the conditions set forth in its rules of procedure, shall:
- a) elect a President and two Vice-Presidents. The representative of the State where the Organization has its headquarters is entitled ex officio to one of the three seats on the Presidency. The other two members are elected for a three-year term of office which can be renewed after a vacancy of three years;
 - b) elect the members of the Board of Advisers;
 - c) elect the Director-General, after consulting the Board of Advisers; and

- d) terminate the Director-General before his term of office expires on its own initiative or on a proposal from the Standing Committee.
2. The Board of Advisers, by its expertise, shall contribute to prepare the decisions of the Assembly and to their implementation by the Director-General.
- A) The Board of Advisers shall have ten members elected for a four-year term by the Assembly. Half the members shall be renewed every two years. Candidates shall be put forward by a Party or by the Board of Advisers. The members of the Board of Advisers shall be selected on the basis of their expertise in the fields of development or law or their experience of the management of international organizations. The Assembly sees to the representativeness of the Board. Its members shall serve in a personal capacity and not as representatives of governments or organizations. One member of the Board of Advisers must be a citizen of the State where the Organization has its Headquarters.
 - B) Meetings of the Board of Advisers shall be called by its Chairman. It shall meet at least once a year, prior to the meeting of the Assembly. An extraordinary meeting must be called at the request of the Standing Committee or six Board members.

The Director-General shall attend meetings of the Board of Advisers. He may speak but may not vote. The Parties' representatives are invited to attend meetings of the Board of Advisers as observers. They may not speak and may not vote.

The Chairman of the Board of Advisers has the overriding vote in case of equal distribution.

- C) The Board of Advisers shall:
 - a) adopt advisory opinions to the Assembly on the following matters : (1) the action plan and the budget for the following year; (2) the report on activity

for the elapsed year and the accounts for the last accounting period ended, (3) regulations relating to the Organization's administration, especially staff regulations;

- b) contribute through its expertise and its advisory opinions to the fulfillment of the objectives of the Organization by the Director-General, according to the decisions of the Assembly;
- c) monitor implementation of the action plan, follow implementation of the budget and assess the quality of the Organization's activities;
- d) render advice with matters brought before it by the Organization's Director-General or by the Standing Committee and matters that a Board member has asked to be included on the agenda;
- e) adopt the Board of Advisers' rules of procedure.

D) The Board of Advisers shall:

- a) elect its Chairman and its Vice-Chairman after each partial renewal or if the position falls vacant;
- b) put forward candidates to the Assembly for each seat to be filled on the Board ;
- c) receive applications for the position of Director-General of the Organization, interview the candidates as appropriate and forward all applications, with an opinion, to the Assembly.

3. The Standing Committee shall provide the link between the Assembly, the Board of Advisers and the Director-General. It shall be comprised of by the President of the Assembly, who shall be its chair, the Assembly's two Vice-Presidents, the representative of one Party who shall be elected by the Assembly for a one-year term and the Chairman and Vice-Chairman of the

Board of Advisers. Meetings shall be called by the President at least every two months or at the request of a member of the Standing Committee or the Director-General. It shall hear the Director-General, who shall report to it on his management and provide it with any documents and explanations that it may request. The Standing Committee is in charge of monitoring the proper implementation of the budget and shall report on its implementation to the Assembly. It shall take appropriate transitional measures if the position of Director-General falls vacant. The President of the Assembly has the overriding vote in case of equal distribution. The Standing Committee shall report its conclusions from any meeting to the Parties.

4. The Director-General shall administer the Organization.
 - A. The Director-General shall be elected by the Assembly, after consulting the Board of Advisers, for a four-year term of office renewable once.
 - B. The Director-General shall:
 - a) prepare the action plan and the budget for the following year, as the report on activity for the elapsed year and the accounts for the last accounting period ended, which are to be presented to the Board of Advisers and the Assembly;
 - b) ensure that the decisions of the Assembly are implemented;
 - c) appoint the managers and the secretariat staff in accordance with the Organization's staff regulations; and
 - d) represent the Organization in judicial proceedings.
 - C. The Director-General shall account for his/her administration to the Assembly and the Standing Committee and shall consult with the Board of Advisers as set out in the provisions of this article.

Article VII
COOPERATIVE RELATIONSHIPS

The Organization may establish cooperative relationships with other institutions and programs and may accept personnel on a loan or secondment basis.

Article VIII
RIGHTS, PRIVILEGES AND IMMUNITIES

The Organization and its staff shall enjoy in the country of its headquarters such rights, privileges and immunities as shall be stipulated in a headquarters agreement. Other countries may grant comparable rights, privileges and immunities in support of the Organization's activities in such countries.

Article IX
EXTERNAL AUDITOR

A full financial audit of the operations of the Organization shall be conducted on an annual basis by an independent international accounting firm selected by the Board. The results of such audits shall be made available to the Board and the Assembly.

Article X
AMENDMENTS

This Agreement may be amended by the Assembly by a three-fourths majority vote of all of its members, provided that notice of such amendment, together with its full text, shall have been sent to all members of the Assembly at least eight weeks in advance of the time established for a vote on the proposed amendment.

Article XI
DISSOLUTION

1. The Organization may be dissolved if a four-fifths majority of all members of the Assembly determines that the Organization is no longer required or that it will no longer be able to function effectively.
2. In case of dissolution, any assets of the Organization which remain after payment of its legal obligations shall be distributed to institutions having purposes similar to those of the Organization as decided by the Assembly in consultation with the Board.

Article XII
TERMINATION

Any Party to this Agreement, upon written notice, may terminate its accession to this Agreement and withdraw its membership from the Assembly. Such termination shall become effective three months after the date on which the notification of termination is received by the Depositary.

Article XIII
SIGNATURE, RATIFICATION, ACCEPTANCE, APPROVAL AND
ACCESSION

1. This Agreement shall be open for signature by states and intergovernmental organizations. It may also be signed, in lieu of any state, by a national public development organization delegated to act on its behalf by such a state. It shall remain open for signature for a period of two years from June 1, 1987, unless such period is extended prior to its expiry by the Depositary. Signature of the Agreement by any party eligible under this provision thereafter shall require approval of the Assembly by a simple majority.
2. The Government of Italy shall be the Depositary of this Agreement.

3. Ratification, acceptance or approval of this Agreement shall be undertaken by the signatories in accordance with their own laws, regulations and procedures.

Article XIV
COMING INTO FORCE

This Agreement shall come into force immediately upon receipt by the Depositary of notifications by the three state parties to this Agreement that the formalities required by the national legislation of such parties with respect to this Agreement have been accomplished.

Article XV
TRANSITION

Upon the coming into force of this Agreement, the Organization shall take all steps necessary to acquire the rights, obligations, concessions, property and interests of its predecessor organization, the International Development Law Institute, a non-governmental organization legally established in Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned being duly authorized thereto, have signed this Agreement in a single original in the English and French languages, both texts being equally authentic.

Done at Rome on February 5, 1988 and amended on June 30, 2002, November 30, 2002 and March 28, 2008.

**Status of ratification of the Agreement for the Establishment of the
International Development Law Organization
as amended on June 30, 2002, November 30, 2002
and March 28, 2008***

State	Signature/Accession	Ratification
Arab Republic of Egypt	March 20, 1989	May 21, 1990
Australia	July 10, 2000	July 10, 2000
Austria	January 20, 1993	March 17, 1994
Bulgaria	November 28, 1995	June 5, 1996
Burkina Faso	May 28, 2001	June 23, 2003
Colombia	June 18, 1998	June 18, 1998
Ecuador	February 5, 1998	February 5, 1998
France	February 5, 1988	April 12, 1989
Italy	February 5, 1988	May 28, 1993
Kenya	March 26, 2009	June 30, 2009
Netherlands	February 5, 1988	March 5, 1990
Norway	March 19, 2002	March 19, 2002
People's Republic of China	May 30, 1989	May 30, 1989
Paraguay	May 28, 2009	May 28, 2009

Philippines	February 5, 1988	April 28, 1989
Romania	June 14, 2005	June 14, 2005
Senegal	February 5, 1988	September 24, 1990
Sudan	February 5, 1988	May 13, 1989
Tunisia	February 5, 1988	May 15, 1991
United States of America	February 5, 1988	July 12, 1988

June 2009 * *As notified to IDLO by the Depository, the Government of Italy.*



**Rules of Procedure
of the
Assembly of Parties**

International Development Law Organization

**Text as approved by the Assembly of Parties on
June 10, 2008**

Rules of Procedure

Assembly of Parties

International Development Law Organization (IDLO)

I. GENERAL

Article 1

General

1. These Rules of Procedure are adopted by the Assembly of Parties (the "Assembly") of the International Development Law Organization (the "Organization") under the authority of Article VI, 1, C, g of the Agreement for the Establishment of the International Development Law Organization (the "Establishment Agreement") dated February 5, 1988 as amended effective June 30, 2002, November 30, 2002 and March 28, 2008, for the governance of the Organization.

2. In the event of a conflict between any provision of these rules and any provisions of the Establishment Agreement, the Establishment Agreement shall prevail.

Article 2

Definitions

- (a) "Assembly of Parties" or "Assembly" means the organ of the Parties to the Establishment Agreement;
- (b) "Board of Advisers" means the Board of Advisers of the Organization;
- (c) "Director-General" means the Director-General of the Organization;
- (d) "Establishment Agreement" means the Agreement for the Establishment of the International Development Law Organization;
- (e) "IDLO" means the International Development Law Organization;

- (f) "Party" means a Party that has signed the Establishment Agreement and is thus a member of the Assembly of Parties;
- (g) "President" means the Party holding the Presidency of the Assembly;
- (h) "Presidency" means collectively the Parties holding the offices of President and Vice-President of the Assembly;
- (i) "Representative" means the person whom a Party has designated as its principal Representative at a session of the Assembly, including the alternate appointed by that Party when such alternate is acting for the Representative;
- (j) "Secretariat" means the staff of the Organization under the direction of the Director-General; and
- (k) "Standing Committee" is the organ of the Organization providing the link between the Assembly, the Board of Advisers and the Director-General.

II. ASSEMBLY SESSIONS

Article 3

Holding of Sessions

The Assembly shall hold its regular session in the last quarter of each year. It shall convene at the invitation of its President.

Article 4

Procedures

1. The Presidency is responsible for fixing the time, date and place of the Assembly sessions in consultation with the Standing Committee. The Secretariat shall support the Presidency in the preparation of Assembly sessions.

2. Any Party may initiate a proposal to the President for holding an extraordinary session. The President shall immediately communicate such proposal to the Parties, the Director-General and the Standing Committee. If one-third of the Parties concur with the proposal within thirty (30) days of

notification of the proposal by the President to the Parties, the President shall convene the session accordingly.

3. The Standing Committee, the Board of Advisers and one-third of the Parties' representatives may address a proposal for holding an extraordinary session to the President who shall immediately communicate it to the Parties and to the Director-General.

Article 5

Place of Sessions

The sessions of the Assembly shall be held at the seat of IDLO. The Assembly may decide to hold a session elsewhere, if such arrangement does not involve additional costs to the Organization.

Article 6

Notification of Sessions

The Secretariat shall, in accordance with such directions as may be given by the President, notify each Party of the time, date and place of the first meeting of a session of the Assembly and its expected duration.

Article 7

Provisional Agenda

1. The President shall prepare a provisional agenda for each session of the Assembly after consulting the Standing Committee.

2. In preparing the provisional agenda, the President may also consult the Board of Advisers and the Secretariat and request any information and advisory opinions necessary for the preparation of the provisional agenda.

Article 8
Communication of the Provisional Agenda

The Secretariat shall transmit to the Parties the provisional agenda for a session and the documentation relating to items thereon together with the notification referred to in Article 6, no later than three weeks before a session.

Article 9
Supplementary Items

After the communication of the provisional agenda pursuant to Article 8, any Party or the Board of Advisers or the Standing Committee may request that the President include one or more supplementary items on the agenda. Such requests shall be made at least 20 days before the session. The Secretariat, on behalf of the President, shall promptly communicate to the Parties the suggested agenda item and documentation relating thereto.

Article 10
Submission of Proposals for Resolutions

Proposals for action by the Assembly shall normally be submitted in writing to the President. The Secretariat, on behalf of the President, shall circulate them to all Parties in both languages of the Assembly.

Article 11
Adoption of the Agenda

1. The Assembly shall adopt the session agenda at the beginning of such session on the basis of the provisional agenda and supplementary items.
2. During a session, the Assembly may revise the agenda by adding, deleting, deferring or amending items.

III. REPRESENTATION AND CREDENTIALS

Article 12

Representatives and Alternates

Each Party shall appoint a Representative to the Assembly, and may, at its discretion, also appoint an Alternate.

Article 13

Credentials and Notifications

The credentials and the notification of the names of the Representatives and Alternates shall be delivered to the Secretariat at least one week before the opening of the first session in which the designated persons are to attend. Unless otherwise specified, such credentials and notifications shall be considered valid for subsequent sessions unless withdrawal or superseded by subsequent notification to the Secretariat.

IV. PRESIDENT AND VICE-PRESIDENTS

Article 14

Election and Term of Office

1. The Assembly shall elect from among the Representatives of the Parties a President and a Vice-President who shall hold office for three years and, upon expiration of this period, until their successors are elected. The State where the Organization has its Headquarters shall serve as a permanent, ex officio Vice-President.

2. The Presidency shall verify credentials and discuss and make recommendations on procedural and other matters referred to it by the Assembly.

3. If a Party serving in the position of President or Vice-President wishes to resign before the end of the established term, that Party shall inform the

Standing Committee and the Assembly. The Standing Committee shall determine the timing of the replacement of the vacating Party-

4. In the absence of the President, he/she shall designate one of the Vice-Presidents to serve as Acting President.

5. The Vice-President acting as President shall have the same powers and duties as the President.

6. If a President ceases to hold office, the designated Vice-President shall serve as Acting President until a new President is elected.

7. For voting purposes, the President or Acting President shall determine the outcome on the event of a tie.

V. BOARD OF ADVISERS

Article 15

Board of Advisers

1. In advance of a session, the Assembly may request advisory opinions from the Board of Advisers on any subject matter falling within its competence.

2. The Board of Advisers shall respond to any such request with a written response.

3. The Chairman of the Board of Advisers may be invited to attend meetings of the Assembly of Parties. If the Chairman of the Board of Advisers is unable to attend a meeting of the Assembly, he/she may delegate the Vice-Chairman to act in his/her place in the meeting. The Chairman of the Board of Advisers or his/her Representative may make oral as well as written statements at the invitation of the President.

VI. DIRECTOR-GENERAL

Article 16

Director-General

1. The Director-General may be invited to attend (part of) meetings of the Assembly of Parties. If the Director-General is unable to attend a meeting of the Assembly, he/she may designate a member of the Secretariat to act in his/her place.
2. The Director-General or his/her Representative may make oral as well as written statements at the invitation of the President.

VII. SECRETARIAT

Article 17

The Secretariat

In consultation with the President, the Secretariat shall prepare the necessary documentation for the Assembly's sessions. The Assembly shall instruct the Secretariat as to the format that such documentation must take. The Secretariat shall assist the Presidency in the execution of all its responsibilities.

VIII. LANGUAGES

Article 18

Languages of the Assembly

English and French shall be the languages of the Assembly. The Secretariat is responsible for ensuring the translation of all the Assembly's documentation from one language to another provided that any such documentation, if it is not produced by the Secretariat, is transmitted to the Secretariat at least one week in advance of meetings.

Article 19
Interpretation

Statements made in a language of the Assembly shall be interpreted into the other language.

Article 20
Languages of Decisions

All decisions of the Assembly shall be made available in both English and French.

IX. CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

Article 21
Public Meetings

The meetings of the Assembly shall be held in public unless the Assembly decides otherwise.

Article 22
Quorum

A quorum for any meeting of the Assembly shall be constituted by a majority of the Parties of the Assembly.

Article 23
General Powers of the President

The President shall declare the opening and closing of each session of the Assembly, direct the discussions, ensure observance of these rules, accord the right to speak, put questions to the vote and announce decisions. The President, subject to these rules, shall have complete control of the proceedings of the Assembly and over the maintenance of order at its meetings.

Article 24
Points of Order

1. During the discussion of any matter, a Representative may at any time raise a point of order which the President shall decide immediately in accordance with these rules. Any Representative may appeal against the ruling of the President. The appeal shall be put to the vote immediately and the ruling of the President shall stand unless overruled by the Assembly.

2. In raising a point of order, a Representative may not speak on the substance of the matter under discussion or make any proposal or motion.

Article 25
Motions

A Representative may present any of the following motions, which the President may put to the vote without or with limited debate and which shall have precedence in the indicated order over all proposals and other motions before the meeting:

- (a) to suspend the meeting;
- (b) to adjourn the meeting;
- (c) to adjourn debate on the item under discussion;
- (d) to close the debate on the item under discussion;
- (e) to vote on a proposal under discussion.

Article 26
Right of Reply

The President shall accord the right of reply to any Representative who requests it, but may determine the time when such right may be exercised and the maximum length of any reply.

Article 27

Expenses

The Parties of the Assembly shall be responsible for all costs and allowances of their Representatives in connection with travel to and from and attendance at meetings of the Assembly.

X. DECISIONS

Article 28

Decisions shall be prepared in the form of resolutions.

Article 29

Voting Rights

1. Each Party shall have a single vote.
2. Parties which abstain from voting are considered as not voting.
3. Each Representative, or in his absence, the Representative's alternate, if any, shall be entitled to express views on a proposal before the Assembly or, if a formal vote on a proposal is taken, to cast the vote of the Party he/she represents.

Article 30

Majorities Required

1. Except as provided otherwise in Articles X and XI of the Establishment Agreement and with regard to the termination of the Director-General before his/her term of office expires requiring a two-third majority of the votes cast, all decisions of the Assembly, whether within or outside a session, shall be taken by a majority of the votes cast.

2. At any meeting of the Assembly, the President should attempt to secure a consensus on a proposal in lieu of taking a vote thereon. However, the Assembly shall take decisions by vote at the request of any Representative.

3. The Assembly shall take cognizance of the applications for the position of Director-General and of the Board of Advisers' opinion.

4. If a consensus cannot be reached for the nomination of the Director-General, the Assembly shall elect the Director-General by secret ballot, by a majority of the votes cast, after three ballots. The second ballot shall be restricted to the candidates obtaining at least three votes on the first ballot. The third ballot shall be restricted to the two candidates obtaining the largest number of votes on the second ballot. In the event of a tie, the Presidency shall decide.

Article 31

Conduct Relating to Voting

1. The President shall announce the commencement of voting, after which no one shall be permitted to intervene until the results of the vote have been announced, except on a point of order in connection with the process of voting.

2. Representatives may make brief statements consisting solely of explanation of their votes, before the announcement of the commencement of voting or after the results of the vote have been announced.

3. The Assembly shall normally vote by show of hands or by standing.

4. All elections and voting on appointments and terminations of office shall be held by secret ballot. When only one person or Party is to be elected and no candidate obtains in the first ballot the majority required, a second ballot shall be taken, which shall be restricted to the two candidates obtaining the largest number of votes.

XI. RECORDS OF SESSIONS

Article 32

Summary of Proceedings

Following the closing of each Assembly session, the Secretariat shall prepare a summary of proceedings of the Assembly session which shall indicate the treatment of any agenda item and any resolutions approved. The summary of proceedings shall be submitted by the Secretariat to the President for final confirmation before its distribution to all Parties.

XII. COMMITTEES

Article 33

Committees

The Assembly may establish such committees as it deems necessary for the performance of its functions provided that such committees do not exercise the functions which are already attributed to the Standing Committee by virtue of the Establishment Agreement.

XIII. AMENDMENTS

Article 34

Method of Amendment

These Rules of Procedure may be amended by the Assembly to the extent that any such amendment is consistent with the Establishment Agreement.



**Rules of Procedure
of the
Standing Committee**

International Development Law Organization

**Text as approved by the Assembly of Parties
on June 10, 2008**

Rules of Procedure
Standing Committee
International Development Law Organization (IDLO)

Article I
General

These Rules of Procedure are adopted by Assembly of Parties (the "Assembly") of the International Development Law Organization (the "Organization") for the governance of the Organization in accordance with the Agreement for the Establishment of the International Development Law Organization (the "Establishment Agreement") dated February 5, 1988 as amended effective June 30, 2002, November 30, 2002 and March 28, 2008.

In the event of a conflict between any provision of these rules and any provisions of the Establishment Agreement, the Establishment Agreement shall prevail. In the event of a conflict between any provision of these rules and any provisions of the Rules of Procedure of the Assembly, the Rules of Procedure of the Assembly shall prevail.

Article II
Functions

1. The Standing Committee shall act in accordance with the Establishment Agreement and the resolutions, recommendations and policies approved by the Assembly.

2. The Standing Committee shall provide the link between the Assembly, the Board of Advisers and the Director-General of the Organization, in accordance with the specific functions provided for in Article VI, 3 of the Establishment Agreement.

In this framework:

- it shall hear the Director-General, who shall report to it on his management and provide it with any documents and explanations that it may request;
- it is in charge of monitoring the proper implementation of the budget and shall report on its implementation to the Assembly; and
- it shall take appropriate transitional measures if the position of Director-General falls vacant.

On this basis, the Standing Committee is responsible for the harmonious functioning of the governing bodies of the Organization and therefore it:

- assists the President of the Assembly (the "President") for the preparation of agendas and prepares, as appropriate, draft recommendations or resolutions for transmission to the Assembly;
- monitors the execution of the Assembly's decisions in between two sessions of the Assembly; and
- monitors the responsiveness of the Board of Advisers and the Director-General to any request submitted by the Assembly or by the Standing Committee.

Article III

Membership

1. The Standing Committee, which shall be chaired by the President, shall consist of the members specified in Article VI, 3 of the Establishment Agreement.
2. Each member may, at the member's discretion, appoint an Alternate to the Standing Committee to represent the member at meetings.

Article IV
Responsibilities

1. The President shall prepare the agenda of the Standing Committee's meetings with the support of the Secretariat.
2. In the absence of the President, one of the two Vice-Presidents of the Assembly shall assume the President's responsibilities over the Standing Committee.
3. The Vice-Presidents shall assist in the execution of the President's functions.

Article V
Terms of Office

1. Except for the Representative of one Party who shall be elected by the Assembly for a one-year term (the ad hoc member) and the Representative of the State where the Organization has its Headquarters, the other members of the Standing Committee shall serve for a term of office, which shall correspond to the term of office they hold in either the Assembly or the Board of Advisers.
2. In order to establish gradual rotation in the Standing Committee's membership of the ad hoc member, such member may not serve on the Standing Committee for more than a one-year term.

Article VI
Meetings of the Standing Committee

1. The Standing Committee shall hold regular meetings at least every two months at the invitation of the President or at the request of the Director-General or a member of the Standing Committee. The request thereof should be substantiated.

2. The time and place of meetings of the Standing Committee shall be determined by the President. The Standing Committee is encouraged to hold its meetings via video conference or conference calls in order to minimize expenditures to the Organization.

3. Notice of meetings shall be transmitted by the Secretariat at least twenty (20) days in advance of the meeting.

Article VII

Quorum for Meetings

A quorum for a meeting shall consist of four members of the Standing Committee. No decision shall be taken at a meeting in the absence of a quorum.

Article VIII

Voting Method

1. Decisions of the Standing Committee shall be taken by consensus unless a vote is requested by the President or by three members.

2. Decisions of the Standing Committee by voting shall be taken by a simple majority of the members present. The President has the overriding vote in case of equal distribution.

Article IX

Decisions taken in writing in lieu of a meeting

1. Any member of the Standing Committee may request the President that a decision is taken in writing in lieu of a meeting.

2. Following a specific request by the President, the Secretariat shall communicate the proposal of a decision received by a member to all the members of the Standing Committee for their comments within 30 days of

communication; any comments received within these limits shall also be communicated.

Article X

Participation of the Director-General in the meetings

The Standing Committee shall hear the Director-General. He/she shall report to the Standing Committee on the management of the Organization and provide any documents and explanations that the Standing Committee may request.

Article XI

Participation of observers in the meetings

The President may invite Representatives of other Parties, the Staff Association of the Organization and any other external participants whose presence is deemed necessary to attend the meetings of the Standing Committee as observers.

Article XII

Reports of meetings

A summary record of the decisions adopted at each meeting shall be prepared by the Secretariat on behalf of the President as soon as possible and shall be transmitted by the President to the Parties.

Article XIII

Working language

English and French shall be the languages of the Standing Committee. The Secretariat is responsible for ensuring the translation of all the Standing Committee's documentation from one language to another provided that any such documentation, if it is not produced by the Secretariat, is transmitted to the Secretariat at least one week in advance of meetings.

Article XIV
Annual report of the Standing Committee

The Standing Committee shall submit to each ordinary session of the Assembly a report on its work since the previous ordinary session.

Article XV
Reports from other Committees

The Standing Committee shall receive reports from other Committees which may be established by the Assembly from time to time.

Article XVI
Functions in the appointment of the Director-General

1. At least six months before convening the meeting of the Assembly of Parties for the election of the Director-General, the President shall circulate to all the Parties an invitation for submitting the candidature of one of their nationals for the position of Director-General of the Organization. The President shall also publish a call for candidates in accordance with the recruitment procedures for the other officials of the Organization. The call for candidatures shall specify the qualifications and experience required and the general conditions for recruitment.
2. Immediately after the closing date for the submission of candidatures, the President shall notify the Parties and the Board of Advisers, by means of a single communication, of all candidatures received. It shall invite the Board of Advisers to convene a meeting in order to proceed to the interview of candidates.
3. The President shall, on behalf of the Organization, sign the contract of employment of the Director-General after his election by the Assembly. He shall inform thereof the Board of Advisers and the Parties.

4. The Director-General shall transmit to the Standing Committee and the Board of Advisers the contracts of employment of the executive staff of the Organization.

Article XVII

Amendments

The Rules of Procedure may be amended by the Assembly to the extent that any such amendment is consistent with the Establishment Agreement.

**Rules of Procedure
of the
Board of Advisers**

International Development Law Organization

**Text as approved by the Assembly of Parties
on June 10, 2008**

Rules of Procedure

Board of Advisers

International Development Law Organization (IDLO)

Article I

GENERAL

1. These Rules of Procedure of the Board of Advisers are issued by the Assembly of Parties (the "Assembly") of the International Development Law Organization (the "Organization") for the governance of the Organization in accordance with the Agreement for the Establishment of the International Development Law Organization (the "Establishment Agreement") dated February 5, 1988 as amended effective June 30, 2002, November 30, 2002 and March 28, 2008. These Rules of Procedure will be formally adopted by the full Board of Advisers at its first meeting in accordance with Article VI, 2, C, e of the Establishment Agreement.

2. In the event of a conflict between any provision of these Rules of Procedure and any provisions of the Establishment Agreement, the Establishment Agreement shall prevail.

Article II

BOARD OF ADVISERS MEMBERSHIP

The Board of Advisers shall consist of ten (10) members. One member of the Board of Advisers must be a citizen of the State where the Organization has its Headquarters.

Article III
APPOINTMENT OF BOARD OF ADVISERS MEMBERS

1. The Assembly shall elect the Board of Advisers members. The President of the Assembly (the "President") shall request each Party and the Board of Advisers to put forward candidates for membership in advance of the Assembly session in which Board of Advisers members may be elected.

2. Board of Advisers members shall serve in their personal capacities and not as representatives of governments or organizations.

3. In addition to the criteria set forth in Article VI 2 A of the Establishment Agreement cited above, the Assembly, being mindful of the overall composition of the Board of Advisers, shall seek the following characteristics in each candidate for membership on the Board of Advisers:

(a) For all candidates

1. Integrity and a commitment to ethical behavior;
2. Ability to make effective contributions to the work of the Organization, namely to the Board of Advisers;
3. Commitment to devoting adequate time to the activities of the Board of Advisers;
4. Scientific or professional accomplishments, which are in line with the objectives and activities of the Organization;
5. Positive experience, if any, in past or current membership on boards of organizations is a commendation;
6. Fluent knowledge of English and/or French; and
7. Age not exceeding 75 during the office term.

(b) One or more of the following attributes with view to establishing balance:

1. Broad academic or professional experience in the rule of law or law and development field and preferably in at least one of the fields of action or program streams of the Organization;

2. Financial and/or accounting knowledge, generally, and as necessary to fulfill the functions of the Board of Advisers as requested by the Assembly in the financial area; and
3. Working experience in or with other international organizations or good understanding of governance and management complexities of intergovernmental organizations with particular emphasis on rule of law and development.

Article IV

TERMS OF BOARD OF ADVISERS MEMBERSHIP

1. The members of the Board of Advisers shall serve for single terms of office of four years. The period of the term of appointment shall commence on the date of the appointment by the Assembly and end at the completion of the number of annual meetings of the Board of Advisers corresponding to the number of years of a member's appointment.
2. In the event of death, permanent incapacity or resignation of an appointed member of the Board of Advisers, the Assembly, at its next meeting, shall appoint a substitute member to serve out the term thus left vacant.
3. An appointment of a member of the Board of Advisers may be withdrawn by a majority vote of the Assembly.

Article V

CHAIRMAN AND VICE-CHAIRMAN

1. The Board of Advisers shall appoint a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman who shall serve in such respective capacities until the expiration of their terms on the Board of Advisers or such lesser periods as the Board of Advisers may specify. The Chairman shall be responsible for coordinating the actions of the Board of Advisers.

2. In the event the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman are temporarily unable to fulfill their functions, the Board of Advisers may appoint an Acting Chairman who shall have full authority of the Chairman. He/she shall exercise such authority until the Chairman or the Vice-Chairman is once again able to fulfill his/her functions.

3. In the event of death, permanent incapacity or resignation of the Chairman or Vice-Chairman, the Board of Advisers shall appoint a new Chairman or Vice-Chairman to serve out the term thus left vacant.

4. The Chairman and the Vice-Chairman are *ex-officio* members of the Standing Committee. In appointing the Chairman and the Vice-Chairman, the Board of Advisers shall also take into account the capacity of such persons to fulfill their functions in the Standing Committee.

Article VI MEETINGS

1. The Board of Advisers shall meet at least once a year at the invitation of its Chairman prior to the annual Assembly session. Extraordinary meetings may be held at the invitation of the Standing Committee or of six members of the Board of Advisers. The Board of Advisers is encouraged to hold its extraordinary meetings via video conference or conference calls in order to minimize expenditures to the Organization. Financial compensation for members of the Board of Advisors attending a meeting not via video conference or conference call shall be provided as and when needed.

2. In advance of Board of Advisers meetings, the President of the Assembly shall notify the Chairman of the Board of Advisers the matters on which, among the Board of Advisers' competence, the Assembly wishes to receive advisory opinions.

3. The Director-General may attend meetings of the Board of Advisers. He/she may speak but may not vote. The Parties' Representatives may attend

meetings of the Board of Advisers as observers. They may not speak and may not vote.

Article VII

PROCEDURES FOR DEVELOPMENT OF ADVISORY OPINIONS AND DECISIONS

1. The Board of Advisers shall seek to develop its advisory opinions and decisions by consensus. If consensus cannot be reached, an opinion or decision may be adopted by a simple majority of the members. The Chairman of the Board of Advisers has the overriding vote in case of equal distribution..

2. The Board of Advisers shall notify its advisory opinions and decisions to the President of the Assembly by the most rapid means of communication available. The President shall forward such decisions and advisory opinions to the Parties through diplomatic channels.

Article VIII

FUNCTIONS OF THE BOARD OF ADVISERS

The functions of the Board of Advisers are laid down in Article VI, 2 of the Establishment Agreement.

Article IX

SELECTION OF CANDIDATES FOR THE POSITION OF THE DIRECTOR-GENERAL

1. At least two weeks before the date of election of the Director-General, the Board of Advisers shall meet in order to interview the candidates and question them about their experience and their programme. The Board of Advisers may establish, within itself, a restricted committee for the preparation of such meeting. The Board of Advisers shall deliver an advisory opinion regarding these candidates, which shall be transmitted to the Assembly.

2. If the resignation or the end of term of the Director-General and the election of a subsequent Director-General coincides with the annual meeting of the Assembly of Parties, the Board of Advisers shall interview the candidates in conjunction with the annual meeting of the Board of Advisors.

Article X
RELATIONSHIP WITH THE SECRETARIAT.

The Secretariat of IDLO shall support the Board of Advisors in the execution of its responsibilities.

Article XI
AMENDMENTS

These rules may be amended by a majority vote of the Board of Advisors and subsequent approval of such amendments by the Assembly of Parties. Such amendments must be consistent with the Establishment Agreement.